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This matter comes before the Court on the Motion of Defendants to Dismiss

all claims.  The case was presented, as scheduled, on Friday, June 16, 2006.  Plaintiff,

though duly notified, failed to appear.

The following is the Court’s decision upon review of the matters in issue.

Defendants, Chief Sam Mackert, the Dewey Beach Police Department, and the

Town of Dewey, move this Court for an order dismissing the Complaint of Plaintiff,

Susan Collins.  On June 10, 2004, Plaintiff filed suit against Defendants for injuries

she sustained as the result of an incident that occurred while Plaintiff was in the

custody of the Dewey Police on June 11, 2002.  Defendants argue that Plaintiff’s

claims should be dismissed for failure to state a claim.1

FACTS

The police report submitted in support of Defendants’ motion indicates that

Plaintiff was arrested by Dewey Beach Police after an individual complained that

Plaintiff, who was intoxicated, continued to touch him, despite his repeated

objections.  Police approached Plaintiff, who was intoxicated, belligerent, and

abusive.  She threatened the officers with bodily harm, and verbally assaulted them

with profanity.  In addition, the police report indicates that she physically assaulted

a female officer, and attempted to kick another officer, for which she was pepper-

sprayed. Finally, while en route to State Police Troop 4 for processing, Plaintiff

kicked out the rear window of the police cruiser with her bare feet.
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Plaintiff’s Complaint alleges that she sustained personal injuries, while in

custody of the police.  Plaintiff claims that the Dewey Beach Police Department was

negligent in failing to supervise its officers, and the individual officers were liable for

second degree assault and negligent infliction of emotional distress.  Further, the

Plaintiff makes claims of civil rights violations, pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 1983.

Plaintiff voluntarily dismissed the claims against the individual police officers, which

this Court ordered on September 17, 2004.  Therefore, the only claims that survive

are those alleging negligent supervision and § 1983 violations.

An arbitration was held in this matter on May 10, 2005. The docket sheet

reflects that Plaintiff’s appeal from the Arbitrator’s decision was filed on June 8,

2005, twenty-eight (28) days later.  

On July 11, 2005, Plaintiff’s attorney, Darryl K. Fountain received a three-year

suspension from practicing law in Delaware.  Plaintiff has not retained new counsel.

She represents herself pro se.  

DISCUSSION

In considering a motion to dismiss for failure to state a claim under Del.Super.

Ct. Civ. R. 12(b)(6), this Court “must assume all well-pleaded facts in the complaint

to be true.”2  As such, “[a] complaint will not be dismissed unless plaintiff would not

be entitled to recover under any reasonably conceivable set of circumstances

susceptible of proof.”3  A complaint will not be dismissed for failure to state a claim
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“unless it is clearly without merit, which may be a matter of law or fact.”4  In

addition, a complaint will not be dismissed unless “ ‘[i]t appears to a certainty that,

under no set of facts which could be proved to support the claim asserted, would the

plaintiff be entitled to relief.’ ”5  Rather, if the plaintiff may recover under a

reasonably conceived set of circumstances, then the motion to dismiss must be

denied.6

I. Plaintiff cannot maintain a claim against the Dewey Beach Police Department
for negligent failure to supervise the patrolmen.

Count I of Plaintiff’s Complaint alleges that the Dewey Beach Police

Department is liable  for Plaintiff’s injuries, because it negligently failed to supervise

the patrolmen who were involved in the incident.  Plaintiff’s claims make broad

generalizations, alleging that the Dewey Beach Police Department was negligent,

because it failed to ensure that the patrolmen complied with the department’s

procedures and fundamental guarantees of the United States Constitution.  Plaintiff’s

claim, however, cannot be maintained, because the Dewey Beach Police Department

is immune from liability pursuant to the Tort Claims Act.7  The Tort Claims Act

provides immunity for all governmental entities and their employees with certain
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narrow exceptions provided in § 4012.8  None of those exceptions is applicable in the

case at issue; therefore, Plaintiff’s claims of negligent failure to supervise against the

Dewey Beach Police Department are DISMISSED. 

II. Defendants are not liable for violating Plaintiff’s civil rights.

Plaintiff also alleges that Chief Mackert and the Town of Dewey Beach

violated her Fourth, Fifth, and Fourteenth Amendments rights, pursuant to 42 U.S.C.

§ 1983.  Plaintiff claims that the Town of Dewy Beach violated her civil rights,

because the Town failed to monitor adequately the inner workings of the Dewey

Beach Police Department.  Similarly, Plaintiff claims that Chief Mackert violated her

civil rights, because he failed to train, supervise or control the officers under his

direct command adequately.  Plaintiff maintains that the actions of the Town of
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Dewey Beach and Chief Mackert rise to a level of gross negligence and recklessness

that shocks the conscience. 

A. Town of Dewey Beach

Section 1983 permits an individual to bring suit against a “person, who, under

color of any statute, ordinance, regulation, custom, or usage, of any State or Territory

or the District of Columbia”  deprives that individual “of any rights, privileges, or

immunities secured by the Constitution and laws.”  Although the language of § 1983

seems to limit the remedy for acts of a “person,” the United Supreme Court has

extended the application of § 1983 to municipalities and other local government

units.9  However, municipalities will not be liable under § 1983 under a theory of

respondeat superior “solely because it employs a tortfeasor.”10  To sustain an action

against a municipality, the plaintiff must “identify a municipal ‘policy’ or ‘custom’

that caused the injury.”11  In addition, the municipality must be a ‘moving force’ that

caused the alleged injury through its deliberate conduct.12  “[A] plaintiff must show

that the municipal action was taken with the requisite degree of culpability and must

demonstrate a direct causal link between the municipal action and the deprivation of

federal rights.”13



Collins v. Figueira, et al.
C.A. No.:   04C-06-009 (RBY)

14 Reynolds v. State, 1999 WL 1427760, at *12 (Del. Super.) (citing Teat v. Neal,
Del. Super., C.A. No. 93C-12-206, Quillen, J. (Jan. 9, 1996) at 5, app. dism., Del. Supr., No. 64,
1996, Berger, J. (March 12, 1996)(ORDER)).

7

In the present action, Plaintiff’s conclusory statement that the Town of Dewey

Beach violated her civil rights, because it negligently and recklessly monitored the

inner workings of the Dewey Beach Police Department is insufficient to establish a

§ 1983 claim.  Plaintiff has failed to allege a claim that the Town of Dewey Beach

had a policy or custom that caused Plaintiff to suffer a violation of her constitutional

rights. Additionally, Plaintiff’s § 1983 claim is deficient, because Plaintiff has not

proffered any facts supporting a causal link between the Town of Dewey Beach’s

alleged negligent and reckless monitoring of the Dewey Beach Police Department to

the injuries Plaintiff allegedly sustained while in the custody of the Dewey Beach

Police Department. For those reasons, Plaintiff’s civil rights claims against the Town

of Dewey Beach are DISMISSED.

B. Chief Sam Mackert.

Plaintiff also asserts a civil rights claim against Chief Mackert for his alleged

failure to train, supervise or control the officers under his command.  Government

officials or actors may also be subject to liability under § 1983, if the plaintiff can

prove that (1) the alleged conduct was “committed by a person acting under the color

of state law,” and (2) the plaintiff was deprived of a constitutional right as a result of

that conduct.14  Further, to maintain a § 1983 claim, the plaintiff must establish a

“‘causal link’ between the official conduct and the alleged deprivation of a
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constitutional right.”15  Unlike state employees,16 other government actors are not

shielded from liability for § 1983 claims.   State laws, like the Torts Claim Act, do not

provide government actors with any additional protection from liability for a § 1983

claim.17  

However a government employee in a supervisory role “cannot be liable under

42 U.S.C. § 1983 merely because those under his supervision violate the

constitutional rights of another.”18  A supervisor can only be liable if “he was the

‘moving force [behind] the constitutional violation,’ or ‘exhibited deliberate

indifference to the plight of the person deprived.’ ”19  A supervisor’s liability under

§ 1983 must be based on actual knowledge and acquiescence rather than respondeat

superior.20

Similar to Plaintiff’s civil rights claims against the Town of Dewey Beach, the

claims against Chief Mackert cannot survive, because the Plaintiff does not allege and
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cannot establish a “causal link” between Chief Mackert’s alleged failure to train,

supervise or control the officers under his command and the alleged violation of

Plaintiff’s civil rights.  In addition, Chief Mackert cannot be liable for the officers’

alleged violations of Plaintiff’s civil rights, because Plaintiff has failed to establish

that Chief Mackert was the moving force behind the violations.  Plaintiff  has also

failed to demonstrate that Chief Mackert exhibited any deliberate indifference to

Plaintiff.  Finally, Plaintiff’s claims against Chief Mackert cannot survive, because

Plaintiff cannot establish that Chief Mackert had any actual knowledge about the

alleged violations.  She does not allege and cannot show that Chief Mackert

acquiesced to the officers’ conduct.  For those reasons, Plaintiff’s civil rights claims

against Chief Mackert are DISMISSED.

Accordingly, Defendants’ Motion to Dismiss is GRANTED.

SO ORDERED.

           /S/ ROBERT B. YOUNG              
J.
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